047

IN THE SUPREME COURT STATE OF FLORIDA TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA FILED
SID J. WHITE

JAN 13 1992
CLERK, SUPREME COURT
By
Chief Deputy Clerk

STACY FRANK,

Petitioner,

v.

MARK K. STRALEY,

Respondent.

CASE NO. 78,556

DCA CASE NOS. 89-3505 90-1546

### PETITIONER'S INITIAL BRIEF ON MERITS

GEORGE A. VAKA, ESQUIRE Florida Bar No. 374016 FOWLER, WHITE, GILLEN, BOGGS, VILLAREAL & BANKER, P.A. Post Office Box 1438 Tampa, Florida 33601 (813) 228-7411

STEPHEN W. SESSUMS, ESQUIRE Florida Bar No. 072463 SESSUMS AND MASON Post Office Box 2409 Tampa, Florida 33601 (813) 251-9200 Attorneys for Petitioner

#

### STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

The Petitioner/Wife, STACY FRANK, respectfully states the Statement of the Case and Facts as follows:

On November 17, 1988, the Wife filed her petition for dissolution of a childless marriage and sought an equitable distribution and division of the marital assets, a determination of each party's responsibilities for the debts incurred during the marriage and an order requiring the Husband to pay a reasonable fee for the services of the Wife's attorneys. (R. 517-518) The Husband answered and admitted that the marriage was irretrievably broken, but denied knowledge concerning the equitable division of property, a determination of debts and attorneys' fees. (R. 519) The Husband also counterpetitioned for dissolution and an equitable division of real and personal property. (R. 519-520)

A pretrial conference was held on March 7, 1989, and thereafter, the Husband filed an amended and second amended counterpetition seeking to establish special equity claims in

For ease of reference herein, the Petitioner/Ex-Wife, Stacy Frank, will be referred to as Wife. The Respondent/Ex-Husband, Mark Straley, will be referred to as Husband.

Of course, since the standard of review for the trial court's findings in the final judgment and fee award was whether there existed competent substantial evidence to support the findings, the facts will be stated in a light most favorable to the Wife and the trial court's findings. See, Herzog v. Herzog, 346 So.2d 56, 58 (Fla. 1977).

All references to the Record on Appeal will be referred to as (R.) followed by citation to the appropriate page number of the Record on Appeal.

various properties. (R. 553-554, 560-565, 568-575) In the second amended counterpetition, the Husband claimed a special equity in the marital home located on Bayshore Boulevard in Tampa, a beach house located on Palm Island in Charlotte County, Florida, a 1963 Bermuda 40 yawl-rig sailboat known as the "Evtide" and a 1982 Mako motorboat. The Husband also requested partition of those properties. (R. 568-575) The Wife denied that the Husband had any special equity in the properties and affirmatively stated how the properties were acquired. (R. 585-587) The Wife also stated that some of the property which the Husband sought to have partitioned was not located in Hillsborough County, but in Charlotte County, therefore, not subject to partition in this matter. (R. 587-588)

Following the Husband's assertion of various special equities, extensive discovery was undertaken by the parties. (R. 1127-1141, 1144-1170, 1172, 1175-1179, 1183-1184) On June 6, 1989, a two and one-half day trial commenced. At the beginning of trial during opening statements, the parties agreed that <u>Fla. Stat.</u> § 61.075 was applicable to the case because the petition for dissolution was filed after the effective date of that statute. (R. 7, 23)

The parties were engaged in October, 1983. (R. 120) At that time, the Husband was living in his pre-marital home located on Jetton (hereinafter referred to as "Jetton home"). (R. 120) The Wife was living in her pre-marital home located on Bristol (hereinafter referred to as "Bristol home"). (R. 120-121) Shortly thereafter, the parties decided to live in the Bristol home since

it was newly refurbished, and the Husband decided to put his Jetton home on the market. (R. 120-121) The Jetton home sold quickly, and the Husband thereafter moved into the Wife's pre-marital home on Bristol. (R. 120-121)

The parties were married on June 9, 1984. (R. 118) This was the Wife's first marriage. The Husband had one previous marriage. (R. 118) Prior to the time that the parties were married, but while they were living together, the Wife made all mortgage payments on the Bristol home. (R. 121) Household expenses were basically commingled. (R. 121)

Prior to the marriage, the parties jointly purchased property on Palm Island in Charlotte County, Florida (hereinafter referred to as "beach property"). (R. 125) The parties made the down payment on the property of \$15,000.00, the funds of which came from the sale of the Husband's Jetton home. (R. 126) The balance was financed with a note that both signed, and the parties entered the marriage with a \$32,000.00 first mortgage on that property. (R. 126, 1013) The beach property was unimproved at the time they purchased it. At the time it was purchased, they were paying \$500.00 a month for dockage on Boca Grande, and the two believed that if they built the dock on the beach property, it would pay for itself. (R. 126) Thereafter, a dock was built and a structure begun in the fall of 1984. (R. 127)<sup>5</sup> When the parties jointly

At the time of the marriage, the Wife's debts were a first and second mortgage on the Bristol home totalling \$39,000.00 and a \$700.00 lien on the Wife's car. (R. 131-132, 137-138) The Husband, on the other hand, entered into the marriage owing in excess of \$35,000.00 in

purchased the beach property, they took title as joint tenants with rights of survivorship. (R. 125-126) The parties gave the seller a note and a mortgage for approximately \$32,000.00 for which the Husband and Wife were jointly and severally liable. (R. 126, 1013)

During the same month that the parties purchased the beach property, the Husband drew approximately \$15,000.00 on his line of credit to pay the Husband's 1983 federal income tax liability. (R. 92, 406, 419, 1055) That line of credit was later repaid with marital funds during the marriage. (R. 127-128, 406, 1055) The Husband had established this line of credit at Freedom Federal (hereinafter "Freedom") prior to the marriage. (R. 92, 406)

After the parties were married, sometime in the fall of 1984, the parties began to develop the beach property. They contracted to build a home on that property. (R. 127) The parties paid all initial expenses associated with building the beach home from their salaries, and by drawing on the Freedom line of credit. (R. 127) After the completion of the beach home, the parties obtained a permanent loan for \$80,000.00 from which they satisfied the purchase money mortgage and note of approximately \$32,000.00 and the Freedom line of credit. (R. 127-128, 1055) At this point in time, the parties re-deeded the property to be held jointly by the entireties. (R. 129) During the course of the marriage, additional improvements were made to the beach home. Those

unsecured loans, a \$40,000.00 loan on a sailboat, a \$13,500.00 loan on the Husband's car and various debts attendant to real estate partnerships which had annual debt service of approximately \$20,000.00. (R. 92, 136-139, 172, 381)

improvements were paid with available funds and did not require any financing. (R. 128)

The parties also re-deeded the Bristol home to tenants by the entireties. (R. 130) The Wife explained that there were two reasons to change title to her pre-marital home. First, the parties basically held everything jointly and commingled all of their funds. (R. 130) In fact, the Wife stated that what was hers was his and so forth. Secondly, a tax attorney who worked at the Husband's law firm suggested it would be advantageous for the Husband to roll over his gain from the Jetton home into the Bristol home. (R. 130-131)

During the course of the trial, the Husband presented conflicting testimony concerning the purpose of jointly titling various properties. His explanation concerning the beach property was that the parties were jointly held and jointly financed solely for estate planning purposes or because of lender requirements. (R. 411, 363) With respect to the re-deeding of the Bristol home, the Husband testified that since the two had paid the Wife's parents \$5,000.00 as a repayment for their initial help to their daughter, that he essentially bought the Wife's interest in her pre-marital home. (R. 410-411)<sup>6</sup>

The parties' explanation as to the intent behind the "repayment" to the Wife's parents vary greatly. The Wife and her mother testified that the Wife's parents had given the Wife the money for her down payment on the Bristol home as a gift and never expected any type of repayment. (R. 114) On the Wife's marriage, the Husband and Wife wanted to repay the Wife's parents for their contributions. The Wife testified that the repayment was partly because of the down payment on the Bristol home,

Eventually, the parties sold the Bristol home for a net profit of approximately \$35,000.00 and thereafter, purchased the marital home located on Bayshore Boulevard (hereinafter referred to as "Bayshore home"). (R. 130-131, 133, 149) The proceeds from the sale of the Bristol home was used to make the down payment on the Bayshore home (approximately \$6,700.00). The remainder of the proceeds from the Bristol home presumably paid quarterly taxes, \$10,000.00 of the Freedom line of credit which had again been drawn down since it had been previously paid through the beach loan proceeds, and other family expenses. (R. 148, 150, 408, 1056)

The parties also acquired various items of personal property prior to and during the marriage. Those items included: a Mako motorboat purchased in February, 1984, prior to the marriage and titled jointly. (R. 129) Likewise, the parties obtained a 40-foot sailing yacht named the "Evtide" which was purchased and substantially refurbished during the marriage. (R. 140, 146) They also replaced the Wife's stolen diamond engagement ring and partially purchased the replacement with insurance proceeds. (R. 155) Likewise, the parties purchased a yacht club membership during their marriage. (R. 150) Automobiles purchased prior to the marriage included the Husband's 1984 Volvo with a four-year loan

and the fact that the Wife's parents had paid for the Wife's wedding, et cetera. The Husband, on the other hand, testified that the payment was for repaying the down payment on the marital home. It is significant to note, however, that the Husband did not testify that the repayment was expected or actually owed to the Wife's parents. (R. 410-411)

of \$13,500.00 and the Wife's pre-marital car with a loan balance of approximately \$700.00. (R. 136-137) The payments on both vehicles were completed during the marriage. (R. 137) During the course of the marriage, the Wife's pre-marital vehicle was replaced by a 1987 Jeep Wagoneer, which at the time of filing, had a value of \$16,375.00. (R. 634-644, 957-958)

There were also several real estate partnerships which were in the Husband's name. The partnerships are:

- 1. 216 S. Franklin (pre-marital): This is the office Husband's law firm leases from building partnership. Wife's expert, Frank Catlett, and M. A. I. & S. R., P.A. testified that the value of this partnership at marriage was \$1,750,000.00 and at the time of filing remained the same. (R. 56-58) Husband's expert witness, Kim Schwenke, valued the interest in this partnership at \$1,900,000.00 at the time of marriage and, likewise, \$1,900,000.00 at filing. (R. 233) The Wife made no claim to the Husband's law firm interest, and apparently because that, the trial court did not value this (R. partnership. 534-644) This property was purchased in January of 1984, but it appears that 100% of the funds invested in the partnership were marital. The marital funds invested total \$9,501.00. (R. 959)
- 2. Harbor Property Associates (pre-marital): expert testified that the value of the marriage was \$80.00 per square foot, and at filing, was \$125.00 per square foot. Therefore, the expert valued the partnership at \$1,755,200.00 at marriage \$2,742,500.00 at filing. (R. 59-61, 65) Husband's expert, on the other hand, testified that at marriage approximately value was filing, approximately \$2,000,000.00 and at \$2,500,000.00. (R. 239-240) The court valued Harbor Property Associates at \$1,992,530.00 at the time of marriage and \$2,621,750.00 at the time of filing. 30.7% of the total funds invested in this partnership were marital. (R. 959) The total marital contribution invested was \$14,746.00. (R. 959)

- 3. 601 S. Florida Land Trust (pre-marital): Wife's expert testified that the partnership value at the time of marriage was \$1,256,000.00 and at the time of filing, \$1,884,000.00. (R. 61-62, 65) The Husband's expert said it was worth \$1,300,000.00 at the time of marriage and \$1,500,000.00 at the time of filing. The court valued the partnership at \$1,295,610.00 at marriage and \$1,636,560.00 at filing. (R. 636) 60.74% of the total funds invested in the partnership were marital, and the total marital funds invested were \$42,097.00. (R. 959)
- 4. 238 S. Franklin (marital): Wife's expert valued this partnership at \$1,250,000.00. The Husband's expert testified to an approximate value of \$1,150,000.00. The court did not value the partnership, but instead, directed the parties to share equally the use and benefit of the Husband's interest in the partnership with the Husband acting as a trustee for the Wife. (R. 640) 100% of the funds invested in the partnership were marital. The total marital funds invested were \$25,434.00.

One of the parties' bigger investments of marital assets involve a 40-foot sailing yacht known as the "Evtide". During the marriage, the Husband had an opportunity to purchase the sailboat, which for him, had been a childhood dream. (R. 144, 1025-1030) The sailboat was located outside of Detroit and required extensive refurbishing to say the least. (R. 143-144, 1025-1030) In the Husband's quest to acquire and refurbish the "Evtide", he expended nearly \$118,000.00 of marital funds. (R. 83-84, 1023-1030) Over \$35,000.00 of the funds were expended by the Husband during the period of separation. (R. 170) Following the parties' separation, the Husband shipped the "Evtide" to Tampa. (R. 147) Despite the enormous investment of marital funds by the Husband on this

The Husband claimed that in reality, he merely spent between \$105,000.00 to \$107,000.00 on the "Evtide". (R. 338)

sailboat, the Wife never had an opportunity to sail upon it. (R. 147, 153) In fact, when the "Evtide" arrived in Tampa, the Husband held a christening party at the Tampa Yacht Club for the yacht and even distributed among the attending guests a tribute to the "Evtide" authored by him, that discusses his affection for the sailboat. (R. 147, 1023-1030)

Prior to the marriage, the Husband purchased a \$43,000.00 sailboat called the "Windvane". (R. 370, 391) Approximately \$34,500.00 of the purchase price was financed. After the parties were married, and to reduce the interest rate, they refinanced the "Windvane" through Sun Bank, and the Wife and Husband signed a promissory note for approximately \$30,000.00. (R. 371, 394) At that time, the parties retitled the boat into the joint names of the Husband and Wife. (R. 135)

The "Windvane" was sold in May of 1988, and the parties realized approximately \$29,000.00 in gross sale proceeds (\$32,000.00 less commission). Because the parties had accelerated the installment payments on the refinancing, they had reduced the balance on the note at the time of the sale to approximately \$18,500.00 (a reduction of a little more than \$11,000.00 which resulted in a "net" to the parties of approximately \$10,500.00). (R. 145, 395) The Husband recognized at trial that boats are not money-making propositions. (R. 389)

The parties then used the \$10,000.00 net "proceeds" towards the purchase of the "Evtide" together with a draw against a Florida National Bank line of credit for \$20,000.00. (R. 409)

The trial court also heard evidence concerning the parties' work history. Briefly stated, immediately following graduation from law school, the Wife clerked for the Second District Court of Appeal. (R. 122) Thereafter, she subsequently joined the Tampa office of a Utah law firm known as Reynolds, Vance, Deason & Smith. The Tampa office ultimately severed its relationship with the Utah firm and the Wife remained with the Tampa people for a short time. Subsequently, she joined the firm of Jacobs, Robbins, Gaynor, et al. That firm began having difficulty, and the Wife left the firm in November, 1985. (R. 123) The Wife testified that she and the Husband had previously discussed the possibility of the Wife taking some time off from work in order to get their life in order and to sell their Bristol home without a broker. (R. 122-124) During that time, the Wife did sell the Bristol home, and the parties eventually purchased the Bayshore marital home. After briefly working with a political campaign, the Wife returned to full-time employment at her current position as corporate counsel with TECO. (R. 124-125) testified that he assisted his Wife in locating this position by putting her in touch with a headhunter. (R. 375)

The Husband, on the other hand, immediately began working with Holland & Knight following his graduation from the University of Michigan law school in 1976. (R. 304-305) He practiced with them until January, 1982, when he became an associate of the Bush, Ross law firm. He became a partner with that law firm in 1983. (R.

304-305) The Husband at all times material to this appeal remained a partner at that firm.

During the course of the marriage, the parties combined their respective incomes, enjoyed joint ownership of property and assumed joint responsibility for debts. (R. 130, 147, 406-408)

Pending the final hearing, the Wife resided in the Bayshore home and paid the mortgage and all other liabilities associated with the marital home. (R. 159) The Husband resided in an apartment, and despite the Wife's protests, regularly used the beach house on weekends and permitted the Wife to use it on only six weekends in an entire year. (R. 158, 427) During the separation, the Husband paid the majority of the expenses associated with the beach home. (R. 731-734, 1099) The amount each party paid toward the maintenance of the respective real properties was almost equal. (R. 1099) During the parties' separation, the Husband enjoyed sole use of the sailing yacht. (R. 147)

The only funds that the parties received through their employment that were not actually placed into joint checking accounts were the contributions that the Husband made to various partnership interests during the marriage, his 401K Plan and the Wife's TECO Savings Plan. Both the Husband and the office manager for Bush, Ross testified that it was customary for the law firm to pay the required quarterly cash contribution (debt service) to the partnerships directly and then to charge it to the Husband's account at year end. (R. 285-286) Those charges would then be credited against any bonus the Husband was entitled to receive at

year end. (R. 285-286), and the parties paid federal taxes on these sums as reflected in their joint tax returns. (R. 139, 173, 287)

The office manager also testified at times that the partners obtained personal loans to make the capital contributions to the partnership's debt service. The Husband had done so on only two occasions during the marriage. The Husband borrowed \$20,000.00 for Harbor Properties and repaid that note from the proceeds obtained from the sale of the Ella Mae property. (R. 285, 288, 321) The Husband also obtained a personal note for \$15,000.00 on 238 S. Franklin. (R. 285, 288) Likewise, the Husband owed \$8,500.00 to the law firm for 1988 because the debt service on the various land partnerships exceeded his bonus entitlement for 1988. (R. 286, 382) That debt was treated as marital debt in the court's equitable distribution. (R. 635)

On November 27, 1989, the trial court entered its final judgment of dissolution. (R. 634-644) (a copy of the final judgment is attached as an Appendix). In the final judgment, the court made various findings concerning the marital assets and liabilities of the parties. Likewise, the court denied the Husband's claims to special equities and fashioned an equitable distribution of the property. The judgment reserved jurisdiction to determine attorneys' fees. The Husband filed an extensive Motion for

The parties also owned a partnership interest in another partnership called "Ella Mae". It was acquired and sold during the marriage. The parties realized approximately \$80,000.00 from the closing of this partnership. The funds generated from that partnership were used to pay the parties' taxes and the Husband's pre-marital debts. The remainder was spent on the "Evtide". (R. 140)

Rehearing with exhibits. (R. 645-691) Rehearing was denied. (R. 695) A Motion to Correct the Error in the Final Judgment of Dissolution was filed December 19, 1989. (R. 1266-1285) The Husband timely appealed. (R. 701)

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