047 w/app

3-16
FILED
SID J. WHITE
FEB 19 1992
CLERK, SUPREME COURT
By _____
Chief Deputy Clerk

**IN THE SUPREME COURT
OF FLORIDA**

STACY FRANK,

Petitioner,

CASE NO. 78,556

v.

DCA CASE NOS. 89-3505 and
90-1546

MARK K. STRALEY

Respondent.

RESPONDENT'S ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

✓
Raymond A. Alley, Jr.
Florida Bar No. 096061
Raymond A. Alley, Jr. P.A.
805 W. Azele
Tampa, FL 33606
(813) 251-8778
Counsel for Respondent

✓
George K. Rahdert
Radhert & Anderson
Alexander Bldg.
535 Central Avenue
St. Petersburg, FL 33701
(813) 823-4191
Co-Counsel for Respondent

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

A. ROBERTSON CAN BE DISTINGUISHED ON THE FACTS.

This case is distinguishable from Robertson in two important respects. First, there is uncontroverted testimony that Straley did not intend to make a gift of his extraordinary non-marital contributions used to purchase the beach property, the motor boat, and the Evtide sailboat (R. 363). As the district court noted, there is not a single word of testimony that a gift was intended or made. In the absence of any claim of gift, the trial court obviously did not make a finding of fact that a gift had been made (R. 636).

¹⁰As this Court noted in Landay, the recognition of a spouse's capital investment of non-marital funds in jointly titled property is grounded in fairness. Even before Ball the harsh and unfair results produced by the gift presumption caused courts to devise alternative theories which would permit recognition of non-marital or special equity contributions. See, e.g., Hegel v. Hegel, 248 So.2d 212 (Fla. 3d DCA 1971).

The principal case relied upon by Frank, Geddes v. Geddes, 530 So.2d 1011 (Fla. 4th DCA 1988), is similar to Robertson. In Geddes there was conflicting testimony about whether a gift was intended. The trial court held that a gift was intended, and this factual determination was not disturbed on appeal. Geddes is inapplicable here, however, because Frank never claimed that Straley intended to make a gift. Straley's testimony that a gift was not intended is unrebutted and thus dispositive, at least under pre-statutory case law. See, e.g., Crews and Bassett v Bassett, 459 So.2d 473, 475 (Fla. 2d DCA 1984).

Of course, if the gift presumption announced in Robertson is indeed irrebuttable, Straley's special equity must fail. On the other hand, if it is not irrebuttable, it should not defeat a special equity in a case where there is no claim of gift, no finding of fact that a gift was made, and uncontroverted evidence that a gift was not intended.

This case can also be distinguished from Robertson because it involves a Landay fact pattern. Although Straley's non-marital funds were used as the down payment for the beach property, there is no question that marital funds were also invested in this asset. In contrast, Robertson involved a classic Ball fact pattern where one spouse's non-marital assets provided all of the consideration for the entireties property.

In a Ball situation, the spouse investing non-marital funds arguably has a choice: title can be taken in one name or (for whatever reason) title may be held jointly. A Landay special equity, however, involves a situation where non-marital and marital assets are invested in a mixed or hybrid asset, in this case the beach property. In a case involving a Landay fact pattern, record title will never fairly or accurately reflect the investment of non-marital and marital funds. For example, had the beach property been titled in Straley's name alone, record title would not have fairly reflected the admittedly marital share of the asset. If section 61.075(3)(a)(5) also overrules Landay, spouses such as Straley are put in an impossible dilemma. No matter how the asset is titled, someone will be treated unfairly in the event of divorce.

Frank emphasizes that marital and non-marital assets were "comingled" in the beach property. (In. Br. at 31-32.) Of course, by definition a Landay special equity involves a mixed investment of marital and non-marital funds in a jointly-titled asset. Frank's reliance upon Terreros v. Terreros, 531 So.2d 1058 (Fla. 3d DCA 1988) and Walser v. Walser, 473 So.2d 306 (Fla. 2d DCA 1985) is misplaced. Both cases involve situations where non-marital funds were comingled with marital funds in an active joint bank account. Because of multiple deposits and withdrawals over the years, the non-marital funds were deemed to have lost their non-marital character, partly because of the proof problems inherent when funds are comingled. That is not what happened here: both parties testified that Straley's non-marital funds went directly from his non-marital bank account towards the purchase of the beach property and the motorboat, and the proceeds from his non-marital sailboat went directly toward the purchase of the Evtide sailboat. (R. 120-29, 747-49).

B. THE STATUTORY RULE ANNOUNCED IN ROBERTSON SHOULD NOT BE APPLIED RETROACTIVELY.

Because the Robertson decision applies the new statutory rule retroactively, it materially impairs or destroys vested special equity property rights established before the legislation became effective on October 1, 1988. This retroactive application of the statute violates the due process clause of the Florida Constitution. See, e.g., State Department of Transp. v. Knowles, 402 So.2d 1155 (Fla. 1981).

This Court has expressly stated that a special equity arising from the investment of non-marital funds in jointly titled property is a vested property interest. A special equity is "a prior vested right" in the nature of a "property interest or lien" upon jointly-titled property. Canakaris, 382 So.2d at 1200-01. See also Duncan and Landay.

Because this constitutional issue has already been raised in the motion for rehearing now pending in Robertson, it need not be extensively restated here. It is apparent that

Straley's non-marital investments in 1984 created vested property rights under the established law in effect when the investments were made.¹¹ Assuming section 61.075(3)(a)(5) reverses Ball and Landay, it is equally apparent that the retroactive application of this statute effectively destroys Straley's capital investment, i.e., his previously vested rights. This "retroactive abrogation of value" is generally considered a denial of constitutional due process. State Department of Transp., 402 So.2d at 1158.

In determining whether a right is vested and thus entitled to constitutional protection, this Court has approved a "weighing process" involving three factors: "the strength of the public interest served by the statute, the extent to which the right affected is abrogated, and the nature of the right affected." Id. The equitable distribution statute governs the private rights of divorcing spouses. To the extent the newly imposed gift presumption promotes a policy objective, it is adequately served by applying the statute prospectively. Second, the practical effect of the Robertson rule is to totally abrogate previously vested rights acquired in reliance upon Ball, Duncan, Canakaris, Wright, and Landay. Finally, as this Court has indicated, the right affected is a substantial property right. For these reasons, previously vested special equity rights should be protected and the statutory rule announced in Robertson should be applied prospectively.

C. **IN THE ABSENCE OF ANY JUSTIFICATION, A CO-TENANT WITH A SPECIAL EQUITY SHOULD NOT BE ARBITRARILY DIVESTED OF TITLE.**

As noted in the decision below, neither party in this case wishes to retain any marital asset except the beach property. 585 So.2d at 339. Primarily because his non-marital or special equity investment enabled the parties to acquire the property, and also because he spent more than \$20,000 maintaining this asset during the period of separation, Straley argued that Florida law supported an award of the beach property to him. See e.g.,

¹¹In her initial brief at 33-34, Frank makes much of the fact that Straley is an "experienced real estate lawyer". Of course, as a real estate lawyer, he presumably was familiar with Ball and Landay and acted in reliance upon this established law when he made his non-marital investments in jointly titled property.

Ball, 335 So.2d at 7; Duncan 379 So.2d at 952; and Tronconi v. Tronconi, 466 So.2d 203, 206 (Fla. 1985).

In Tronconi, the couple owned two residences: the marital home where the wife resided which was awarded to her, and a second home where the husband resided which was awarded to him. Each party wanted the residence awarded to them and the trial court specifically found that partition was not appropriate.

Although the parties here also own two residences, the trial court erred by awarding the wrong residence to each party. In July 1988, Frank asked Straley to vacate the marital home, and thereafter she remained in exclusive possession of the marital home through dissolution (R. 174-75). Because the beach property was too far away to commute to work, Straley was forced to rent an apartment, but it is undisputed that he made all mortgage and real estate tax payments for the beach property throughout the separation, while the parties shared the use of this asset (R. 649-50).

The justification for the cross award in Tronconi was that it "permitted the parties to continue the occupancy of their present residences." Faust v Faust, 505 So.2d 606, 609 (Fla. 1st DCA 1987) In contrast, by awarding Frank's residence (i.e. the marital home) to Straley, the trial court here did the opposite by requiring each party to move. The Tronconi decision emphasizes that there must be a justification for a cross award of real property. 466 So.2d at 205-06. Indeed, this Court has indicated that there must be justification for an award of exclusive possession of real property, which is a far less drastic remedy than a complete divesture of title. Duncan; Weisfeld v. Weisfeld, 545 So. 2d 1341 (Fla. 1989).

Absent any countervailing considerations such as the support needs of a spouse, Tronconi reaffirms that a special equity interest justifies an award of the asset to the special equity claimant. 466 So.2d at 206. In this case, there were no countervailing considerations whatever for an outright award of the beach property to Frank. It is not the marital home, nor are there children involved. Even if section 61.075(3)(a)(5) precludes

any monetary recognition of his special equity investment, Straley's contributions to the beach property were nonetheless extraordinary. Without his contributions, the property could not have been purchased or sustained upon separation.

As the district court stated, at a minimum Straley's request for partition should have been granted. 585 So.2d at 339. Because neither party objects to the sale of any of the other marital assets, they can be sold and the proceeds equitably divided. When unwanted assets are sold, disputes about valuations are less significant, and neither party is saddled with an asset whose suitability and affordability evaporates with the marriage.

As for the coveted beach property, because it consists of two buildable lots, physical partition in kind may be possible. Alternatively, at a court ordered partition sale the co-tenants can both bid for the property and they will receive credit for their respective ownership interests. Grable v. Nunez, 66 So.2d 675 (Fla. 1953). Absent any basis or rationale for divesting a co-tenant of title, partition produces a fair result, favored by the law, which is generally available as a matter of right to co-tenants in Florida. See 12 Fla. Jur. 2d Co-tenancy and Partition, §§40, 47. A partition sale is inherently fairer than an arbitrary divestiture of title "by judicial fiat", because at the sale "each party would at least have the opportunity to purchase the other's interest." Faust, 505 So.2d at 609. In the absence of any justification for doing otherwise, neither Tronconi nor the equitable distribution statute modify section 689.15, Florida Statutes (1991), which provides that upon divorce the owners of entireties property automatically become tenants in common.

It is not a coincidence that the foregoing cases all involve the disposition of real property: the law has long recognized that real estate is unique. Although there were a number of other assets in this case, both parties clearly consider the beach property to be unique and irreplaceable. Even if the statute has destroyed his special equity, Straley's rights as a co-tenant should be respected.

II. **THIS COURT SHOULD EXERCISE ITS DISCRETION AND DECLINE TO REVIEW ISSUES IN THIS CASE WHICH ARE BEYOND THE SCOPE OF THE CONFLICT WITH ROBERTSON.**

This Court's jurisdiction is based on the conflict between the decision below and its recent decision in Robertson. Although it has jurisdiction to review other issues in the case, this Court should exercise its discretion and decline to do so.¹²

This case involves two appeals which were separately and extensively briefed at the district court. Because of space constraints, as well as the procedural posture of the case at this third level of appellate review, the district court briefs addressed a number of issues which cannot be raised here. (See App. A-F.)¹³ The two appeals were later consolidated for oral argument before the three judge panel and reargument before the district court en banc. Because the consolidated case involved a voluminous record and a large number of issues, both the original panel and the en banc panel sua sponte granted extraordinary time for oral argument.

In the first appeal pertaining to the property distribution, five major issues were raised, together with a number of sub-issues. Only two of these issues are addressed in the opinion below. This does not mean that the other issues are without merit. Because the district court concluded that the trial court erroneously treated all of the passive gain in Straley's non-marital real estate partnerships as a marital asset, that court was not required to reach and address several of the other issues raised.

¹²In cases involving its discretionary jurisdiction, this Court frequently declines to review other issues which are beyond the scope of the conflict or the certified question, as well as issues which were not addressed in the district court's opinion. See, e.g., Ombres v. Ombres, 16 F.L.W. S740 (Fla. Nov. 14, 1991); Sandoval v. Banco De Comercio, S.A., 585 So.2d 934 (Fla. 1991); State v. Gibson, 585 So.2d 285 (Fla. 1991); Bedell v. Bedell, 583 So.2d 1005 (Fla. 1991); Schutz v. Schutz, 581 So.2d 1290 (Fla. 1991); State v. Williams, 576 So.2d 281 (Fla. 1991).

¹³Consistent with the role of the district courts in Florida, the briefs and appendices submitted below on direct appeal contain a detailed recitation and analysis of the voluminous record. In contrast, in a case involving its discretionary jurisdiction, the briefs to this Court appropriately should focus on the significant policy issue of whether the doctrine of special equity set forth in Ball has been abolished by the legislature.

The second appeal of the attorney fee award also involved five major issues. Because the district court found merit in the first issue, it did not reach and address any of the other points on appeal.¹⁴ Again, however, this does not mean that the other issues are without merit. In fact, the dissenting judges agreed with some or all of the other points raised by Straley. 585 So.2d at 339-348.

Although the dissolution of this four year marriage has already been the subject of extraordinary scrutiny by two appellate panels, Frank now seeks a de novo review of every issue decided against her by yet a third appellate tribunal. The other issues raised do not involve decisional conflict, nor are they in any way affected by or necessary for this Court's resolution of the special equity issue. To the contrary, if Robertson destroys Straley's special equity claim, Frank's position on remand is substantially improved.

In contrast, even if he wished to further prolong this litigation, Straley is now precluded from raising any of the issues decided against him. Some of these issues are addressed in the opinion below; others were rejected sub silentio. In any event, since there was no basis to invoke this Court's jurisdiction, Straley could not file a cross petition seeking a similar de novo review. Instead, solely because of the jurisdictional limitations of this Court, Straley has been forced to assume a basically defensive posture. At the same time, he is also forced to assume an appellant's role by pointing out alternative grounds for a reversal of the trial court's judgments.

At bottom, Frank seeks a de novo review in the hope that she will benefit from the convoluted procedural posture of this case. She is hoping that this Court will simply disagree with the district court. Especially in a case to be decided without benefit of oral argument and complete briefs addressing all of the issues, such disagreement would

¹⁴Given the procedural posture of this case, it is not clear what relief this Court could possibly fashion on the non-conflict issues. Comity and fundamental fairness would suggest that if this Court disagrees with the Second District's assessment of passive gain on non-marital assets or allocation of attorney's fees, the case should be remanded to the Second District en banc for their consideration of those alternative issues which their previous ruling did not require them to reach.

"necessarily [be] made from the least reliable source--a second level appellate record."

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